
   

Page 1 of 7 

      Planning Commission Minutes 
 July 1, 2025 

A public hearing of the Planning Commission was held on Tuesday, July 1, 2025, at 6:00 
p.m. in City Council Chambers, 155 Johnston Street, Rock Hill SC.   

MEMBERS PRESENT Randy Graham, Duane Christopher, Jonathan Nazeer, M. 
Stephanie Haselrig, and Darrell Watts 

MEMBERS ABSENT Shelly Goodner and Jarrunis Yates 

STAFF PRESENT Shana Marshburn, Leah Youngblood, and Ainsley Ellis 

1. Call to Order 

Chair Graham called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

2. Recite the Pledge of Allegiance 

3. Recognitions 

a. Recognize Carl Dicks for service on the Planning Commission. 

4. Approval of minutes from the June 3, 2025, meeting.  

Vice Chair Christopher made a motion to approve the minutes as submitted. 
Commissioner Nazeer seconded, and the motion carried by a vote of 5-0 
(Goodner and Yates absent). 

5. Public Hearing Items 

a. Hold a public hearing and consider a recommendation to City Council 
on petition M-2025-09 by Jacky Properties, LLC to rezone 
approximately 2.11 acres at 171, 183, and 197 Glenwood Dr. from 
Office and Institutional (OI) to Master Plan-Residential (MP-R). Tax 
Parcels 594-01-03-014, -008, and -011. 

Shana Marshburn, Planner III, presented the staff report.  

Chair Graham acknowledged that the buffer requirement is noted as being 
a minimum of 50 feet, and that the applicant is getting a deduction of 10 feet 
for the existing fence on the Parkwood Villas property and 10 feet for the 
vegetation that it already proposed to provide. Considering that, he asked if 
the applicant is getting a 20-foot reduction overall. While referring to the 
buffer chart provided within the staff report and in the presentation, Ms. 
Marshburn stated that staff is only recognizing the 10-foot buffer as  
proposed to be provided adjacent to Parkwood Villas.  She clarified that if 
one of the listed intervening factors exists then this would reduce the buffer 
by 10 feet, resulting in a 20-foot buffer being provided as opposed to only 
10 feet.  She went on to add that staff isn’t able count the fence on the 
Parkwood Villas property as an intervening factor, due to the current 
condition of the fence.  Ms. Marshburn stated that staff had previously 
contemplated suggesting the applicant work with Parkwood Villas to replace 
its fence; however, it decided that providing vegetation instead would be a 



Planning Commission Minutes July 1, 2025 

Page 2 of 7 

better option.  
 
Chair Graham asked if the vegetation were provided, would the required 
buffer still be 40 feet.  Ms. Marshburn stated the required buffer is 50 feet 
but that considering the 10 feet of vegetation that the applicant is 
providing, it is only providing a 40-foot buffer. She added that if the 
applicant were to provide their own fence or if staff could count the fence 
on the Parkwood Villas property, that it would reduce the required buffer to 
40 feet.  Further, if they were to provide the 10-foot buffer along with that, 
the buffer deficit would be 30 feet as opposed to 40 feet.  
 
Vice Chair Christopher stated that the buffer is only being occupied by 
grass, trees, and 400 square feet of pavement, with no building. He further 
that these items still provide a buffer from the apartment building.  Ms. 
Marshburn stated that generally the only things that may be contained 
within a required buffer area are fencing and landscaping that satisfy the 
buffer, and that activity areas are not allowed. 
 
Vice Chair Christopher noted that the only thing not allowed is the square 
of pavement for vehicle turnaround. Ms. Marshburn confirmed that Vice 
Chair Christopher’s statement was true to an extent; however, in addition 
to the vehicle turnaround area, the amenity area being shown is well 
within the required buffer, which is not allowed.  Ms. Marshburn then 
called attention to the revised site plan showing the dumpster enclosure 
completely outside of the required buffer in comparison to the plan shown 
at the June meeting, where the enclosure was shown to encroach.  She 
concluded by stating that the change came as of result of staff consulting 
with the Public Works Department which agreed to allow a dumpster 
enclosure designed to hold only one commercial size dumpster cart as 
opposed to two.  
 
Chair Graham asked if the dumpster enclosures are now within the 
guidelines. Ms. Marshburn confirmed that they were now located outside 
of the required buffer and within guidelines. 
Commissioner Watts asked if the public notification emails included the 
HOA. Ms. Marshburn confirmed that they did. 
 
Vice Chair Christopher asked if there had been an additional public 
meeting from the last Planning Commission meeting to this one. Ms. 
Marshburn stated that one was not required and that she was not aware of 
the applicant holding any additional meetings with residents. 
 
Chair Graham asked Ms. Marshburn to summarize the changes the 
applicant made to address the comments and concerns from the previous 
meeting in June. Ms. Marshburn noted that they now have 6 deviations 
since proposing to come into compliance with the exterior materials 
requirements. She went on to note that the maximum height, the minimum 
land use buffers, the maximum building footprint, the minimum amount of 
tree retention, the proximity to a management office, and the reversion to 



Planning Commission Minutes July 1, 2025 

Page 3 of 7 

OI if vested rights are lost were still deviations.  
 
Commissioner Haselrig asked what the City’s motivation was for being 
willing to accept so many deviations for the project.  Ms. Marshburn stated 
that the project checked all the boxes for multi-family development. Ms. 
Marshburn advised the Commission that approximately 10 years ago, the 
City completely overhauled its multi-family standards to include locational 
requirements that encourage multi-family communities to be developed in 
locations that are walkable to shopping, places of employment, and 
preferably a grocery store.  She noted that the city’s objective in making 
the changes was to integrate multi-family developments into the 
community rather than being located on the outskirts of the City and only 
serving as a sleeping place for residents who partake in the offerings of  
another community  
 
Commissioner Nazeer asked for clarification on the standard for a location 
being considered as walkable as he did not agree that the proposed 
location is walkable to anything and noted that the nearest grocery store is 
quite a distance away. 
 
Commissioner Watts noted that based on the comments from the previous 
meeting, the fact that development is an infill project could be the primary 
purpose of allowing so many deviations. 
 
Vice Chair Christopher noted that adjacent land uses are very compatible.  
Chair Graham stated that because there were so many deviations, there 
needs to be justification provided. He stated that he believes walkability 
may be a subjective term and that there needed to be something more 
defined because there are a variety of parameters. 
 
Vice Chair Christopher asked if bicycle racks would be required. Ms. 
Marshburn confirmed that they would. 
 
Chair Graham opened the floor to the applicant. 
 
The applicant, Christopher Hall, 5864 Savona Terrace, Fort Mill, stated 
that he intends to build an apartment community where the tenants enjoy 
living. He stated that the stormwater requirements turned out to be far 
more expensive than intended and that the restrictions will be harder to 
meet. He added that the project would provide the City with an additional 
$700,000 over the next five years in available tax revenue, whereas the 
current property would only provide $40,000. He stated that he is also 
dealing with the City’s request to include language within the Terms & 
Conditions that he considers to be an encumbrance on his property, with 
the language stating that the property will be subject to forever paying 
property taxes. He noted that his property would be unfairly handicapped, 
and that no charitable organization would be interested in purchasing his 
property in the future.  He concluded by stating that it deters other 
property owners from buying his property as well and guaranteed that he 



Planning Commission Minutes July 1, 2025 

Page 4 of 7 

would pay property taxes so long as he owns the property.   
 
Chair Graham asked staff to clarify the subject matter Mr. Hall was 
referring to.  Ms. Marshburn stated that since the June meeting, the Terms 
& Conditions document had been revised to further solidify the taxation 
element.  She added that the applicant first obliged, eventually agreeing to 
the language only to re-oppose it on the Friday prior to the meeting.  
Chair Graham asked for clarification on what the Commission was 
expected to vote. Ms. Marshburn stated that they were expected to vote 
on what was in their agenda packet and being presented to them. 
Mr. Hall stated that the language that the taxation language that was 
included in the Terms & Conditions at the time of the June meeting was 
acceptable but that it became unacceptable when it was revised to be 
more specific, leading him to view it as an encumbrance. 
 
Chair Graham noted that the Planning Commission was not aware of any 
discrepancies from the applicant. He advised that the applicant take the 
matter up before the City Council because the Planning Commission did 
not have any purview for this situation. 
 
Vice Chair Christopher asked if they changed the slope of the roof from 
the previous meeting. 
 
The architect, Timothy O’Brien, 817 Elswick Court, Fort Mill, confirmed 
that originally, they were single gable pieces, and now they were split into 
a double gable so that they could bring the height down. He stated that 
they didn’t change the pitch, but that they changed the overall height.  
Vice Chair Christopher asked if the amenity area would be a programmed 
amenity area or if it were simply being called an amenity area. Mr. O’Brien 
stated that the area would be envisioned to contain a grill, firepit, etc. and 
that it would be used as an outdoor amenity as opposed to an open 
greenspace. 
 
Chair Graham opened the floor for public comment. There was none. 
Commissioner Watts stated that he was satisfied with the changes the 
applicant had made. 
 
Commissioner Haselrig noted her concerns about voting one way or the 
other and says that she is concerned that the applicant is not in 
agreement with what the City is recommending.  
 
Planning & Development Director, Leah Youngblood approached the 
Commission and advised that the City attorney’s office had provided the 
language, and that the applicant would need to agree with the language. 
She added that she doesn’t think the City Council would welcome creating 
a loophole for property owners.  
 
Commissioner Haselrig added that she viewed it as a big deal, and that 
the applicant would need to decide if he wanted to move forward or not. 



Planning Commission Minutes July 1, 2025 

Page 5 of 7 

Ms. Youngblood stated that without having yet been presented to the City 
Council, her opinion is that the language needs to remain the same. 
Commissioner Nazeer noted that they are proposing a lot of deviations 
and that while he is aware that there is a housing deficient, he doesn’t 
want to set a precedent for future applicants. 
 
There being no further discussion, Vice Chair Christopher made a motion 
to approve.  Chair Graham then offered an amended motion after citing a 
concern that he would like to see the 10-foot vegetated buffer be planted of 
plants that will actually achieve a buffer and that the Terms & Conditions be 
revised to reflect this  More specifically, he asked that it be revised to specify 
that the buffer plantings adjacent to the Parkwood Villas development be at 
least 6 feet in height at the time of planting and that it consist of plantings 
that would achieve a similar screen to that of a 6-foot solid fence. The 
motion was seconded by Commissioner Watts. The motion was approved 
with conditions by a vote of 5-0 (Goodner and Yates absent). 
 

b. Hold a public hearing and consider a recommendation to City Council 
on petition M-2025-12 by 742 North Anderson, LLC to annex and 
rezone approximately 2 acres at 742 and 745 N. Anderson Rd. from 
Urban Development (UD) in York County to Limited Commercial (LC) 
and Design Overlay District (DOD). Tax Parcels 664-00- 00-005 & 664-
00-00-030.  

Shana Marshburn, Planner III, presented the staff report.  
Chair Graham recused from the request, citing he assisted the applicant 
with the purchase of the property.   
 
Vice Chair Christopher noted that the proposed zoning district is Limited 
Commercial, and that the Planning Commission’s role is to vote on the 
rezoning and not the use of the property for the Adult Enrichment Center.   
Ms. Marshburn confirmed. 
 
Vice Chair Christopher opened the floor to the applicant. 
 
The applicant, Samantha Kriegshauser, 7664 Charlotte Highway, York, 
stated that Adult Enrichment Center’s program would be for neurodiverse 
adults and that there are about 65 seniors enrolled, with the average 
attendance around 55 a day. She added that the seniors learn about life, 
work, and social skills. Ms. Kriegshauser noted she was asking for the 
Limited Commercial zoning designation but requested that the Design 
Overlay District (DOD) designation not be included as it would add a 
significant amount of cost to the conversion of the Enrichment Center. 
 
Commissioner Nazeer asked whether moving into the larger building 
along Anderson Road would increase the number of clients that the 
Enrichment Center could serve.  Ms. Kriegshauser confirmed that it would. 
Commissioner Haselrig asked Ms. Kriegshauser if she would be closing 
down her current location. Ms. Kriegshauser confirmed that the 
Enrichment Center sold their previous property on Park Avenue and is 



Planning Commission Minutes July 1, 2025 

Page 6 of 7 

now in their older building in Fort Mill. She added that the move to the 
4,300 square-foot building in Fort Mill has caused them to go from a larger 
space to a much smaller one and that the property on Anderson Road  
would allow them the proper space to serve clients.   
 
Commissioner Nazeer noted that the Enrichment Center does not have a 
Rock Hill presence right now. Ms. Kriegshauser confirmed. 
Vice Chair Christopher opened the floor for public comment. There was 
none. 
 
Vice Chair Christopher noted that the proposed zoning district is Limited 
Commercial, and that the Planning Commission’s role is to vote on the 
rezoning and not the use of the property for the Adult Enrichment Center.  
Ms. Marshburn confirmed. 
 
Vice Chair Christopher opened the floor to the applicant. 
 
The applicant, Samantha Kriegshauser, 7664 Charlotte Highway, York, 
stated that Adult Enrichment Center’s program would be for neurodiverse 
adults and that there are about 65 seniors enrolled, and the average 
attendance is around 55 a day. She added that the seniors learn about life, 
work, and social skills. Ms. Kriegshauser by asking for the Limited 
Commercial zoning designation but requested that the Design Overlay 
District (DOPD) designation not be included as it would add a significant 
amount of cost to the Enrichment Center. 
Commissioner Nazeer asked whether moving into the larger building along 
Anderson Road would increase the number of clients that the Enrichment 
Center could serve.  Ms. Kriegshauser confirmed that it would. 
 
Ms. Haselrig asked Ms. Kriegshauser if she would be closing down her 
current location. Ms. Kriegshauser confirmed that the Enrichment Center 
sold their previous property on Park Avenue and is now in their older 
building in Fort Mill. She added that the move to 4,300 square foot building 
in Fort Mill has caused them to go from a larger space to a much small one 
and that the property on Anderosn Road this property would allow them the 
proper space to serve clients.   
 
Commissioner Nazeer noted that the Enrichment Center does not have a 
Rock Hill presence right now. Ms. Kriegshauser confirmed. 
Vice Chair Christopher opened the floor for public comment. There was 
none. 
 
There being no further discussion, Ms. Haselrig made a motion to 
recommend approval of the LC zoning and annexation without the Design 
Overlay designation. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Nazeer. 
The motion was approved by a vote of 4-0 (Goodner absent and Yates; 
Chair Graham recused). 
 

6. NEW BUSINESS 



Planning Commission Minutes July 1, 2025 

Page 7 of 7 

a. Continuing education opportunities. 

7. OTHER BUSINESS 

a. Chair Graham proposed having a discussion regarding the Design Overlay 
District at the next meeting. 

8. Adjourn. 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:34 p.m. 
 


